**RECEIVED**

**Apr 28 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

Appeal From The  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION  
Appellate Panel

---

Appellate Case Number 2019-001944

---

Mary Hickman, Employee, ..... Appellant,

v.

Ruiz Foods, Employer, and  
Safety National Casualty Corporation  
C/O York Risk Services Group, Carrier, ..... Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Dwight C. Moore, SC Bar No. 63008  
Moore Law Firm, L.L.C.  
26 North Main Street  
Post Office Box 1229  
Sumter, South Carolina 29151-1229  
Telephone (803) 778-6520  
Fax (803) 775-6365  
Email: moorelawfirm@ftc-i.net

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Whether or not the Appellant suffered a compensable injury to only her back for which she received all appropriate medical treatment;**
2. **Whether or not the Appellant reached maximum medical improvement on September 28, 2017;**
3. **Whether or not the Appellant's current condition to her back is unrelated to her compensable accident sustained on August 22, 2016, as Appellant failed to meet her burden of proof; and**
4. **Whether or not the Appellant is entitled to any additional medical treatment.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant suffered on-the-job injuries during the evening hours of August 22, 2016, when she slipped and fell in an accumulation of water and oil on the floor of her worksite. The incident was admitted by the Respondents. The Appellant states that she fell onto her right side, striking some metal trays with her right arm and head as she fell to the floor. She complained of pain and bruising to the right upper arm, right lateral knee, midline thoracolumbar region and right scalp. She was treated at the KershawHealth Medical Center on August 23, 2016, she was seen on August 23, 2016, by Keith Farrell, APRN, at McLeod Occupational Health for injuries diagnosed as follows:

1. Contusion of right upper arm
2. Abrasion of right upper arm
3. Contusion of scalp
4. Contusion of right knee
5. Strain of muscle and tendon of back wall of thorax

Her activity restrictions "General: Seated duty only, Rotate stand/walk/sit as needed for comfort PRN."

(R. p. 148; *App. APA 1*, p. 1; R. pp. 175-176; *App. APA 2*, pp. 28-29).

On March 23, 2017, the Appellant was seen by Dr. Scott B. Boyd at Lexington Brain and Spine Institute for a “workman’s comp evaluation regarding a fall that occurred at work (Ruiz Foods) 08/22/2016. Since that time she has had a considerable amount of pain in the right side of her low back that extends into the buttock with tingling and numbness down the side of the right leg to the foot. The pain in her back is constant. Her leg symptoms are intermittent. Activity tends to aggravate her symptoms overall. She denies any left leg symptoms. She tried to work but was unable to do so. She was unable to tolerate light duty as well. They sent her to physical therapy but that seemed to aggravate her symptoms. An MRI scan was then ordered which showed some abnormalities prompting visit today. She has not been to pain management.” Dr. Boyd’s Assessment follows. “Low back and right leg pain in her lower radicular pattern. She states this has occurred since her described work injury. She exhibits quite a bit of pain and Waddell signs. Her MRI scan does show a facet effusion on the right at L5-S1. I don’t believe any of this surgical and she was not able to tolerate physical therapy. Therefore I have recommended referral to pain management to consider further treatment is likely to include facet blocks or epidural sterile injections. Once again I do not believe that there is a surgical alternatives here so I will release her to pain management and keep her out of work until they’re evaluation.” Dr. Boyd wrote the Appellant out of work from March 23, 2017, until she could be evaluated by pain management. (R. pp. 235-236, 238; *App. APA 5*, pp. 118-121)

Appellant was referred to Dr. Steven B. Storick of Midlands Orthopaedics and Neurosurgery on May 2, 2017, for evaluation of her right knee, right arm/elbow, back and head. His Discussion Notes Follow:

Ms. Hickmon presents with multiple complaints from her work-related injury that seemed to be improving except for her persistent right low back pain. She only

occasionally has pain down the right leg and numbness in the foot. The patient had no neurological deficits and did not appear myelopathic. Her physical exam due to mostly localized tenderness. The lumbar MRI findings were most degenerative of uncertain age. Patient has significant elevated Oswestry and verbal pain scores. Her old medical records were also reviewed indicating issues with chronic back pain and headaches. Conservative treatments would be the most appropriate. The patient reports minimal physical therapy for her back and the previous treatments most focused on over-the-counter medication if needed. I would expect she should be at maximum medical improvement when she completes physical therapy. Ms. Hickmon described working at a food processing plant where she is a “stacker” moving tortillas from one line to another for 9 hours a day. Once she is at MMI, I believe she should be capable of returning to that type of work. She will follow-up when she completes physical therapy. The patient may return to work in sedentary duty for now. Treatment plan was reviewed with Ms. Hickmon. All of my opinions are based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty.

On June 20, 2017, Dr. Storick recorded the following Discussion Notes:

Overall the patient has improved with conservative treatments. She will need to continue with her daily home exercises for her back. The patient is capable of returning back to work without restrictions. She will not need long-term medications and should utilize OTC as needed. The patient may need to see an orthopedist regarding the popping and pain in the right knee. Using the AMA Guides to the evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, the patient has a 2% whole body impairment lumbar spine based on the low back pain and lumbar spondylosis. She is to follow up as needed. Treatment plan was reviewed with the patient. All my opinions are based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty.

(R. pp. 239, 242, 249-250; *App. APA 6, pp. 122,125, 132-133*)

The Appellant was seen by Dr. W. S. (Bill) Edwards, Jr., Spine Surgeon, of Pee Dee Orthopaedic Associates, P.A., on September 28, 2017, on referral for a Lumbar Independent Medical Evaluation; the chief complaint being low back pain and right leg pain. In pertinent part, Dr. Bill Edwards’ History of Present Illness is as follows:

The 50 year old black female sustained a work related injury in August of 2016 on her job as a food process worker at Ruiz Foods. She noted the immediate onset of pain in her back without any dermatomal pattern of pain in legs but states that she injured her right knee at the same time. Symptoms have improved from that standpoint though her back continues to bother her significantly. She was seen at Occupational Medicine Clinic at McLeod initially and physical therapy

was started and subsequently was referred to Dr. Scott Boyd in Columbia who did not feel she was a surgical candidate and referred her to Pain Management under the direction of Dr. Storick. Conservative treatment has consisted of physical therapy and medication and initially she was out of work for awhile but has been on a light duty environment since that time. She was felt to be at maximum medical improvement by Dr. Storick on June 20, 2017 and was felt by him to have no specific need for restrictions for her back. He opined that she had 2% whole person impairment of her body related to her low back injury. She denies any previous problems related to her spine. Her continued pain has been localized in the low back area radiating to the right leg though she admits that her knee has improved. She describes some paresthesias in the right foot and ankle since this injury that have not improved. She drives approximately one hour each way to work which she feels aggravates her symptoms at times....

DISCUSSION:

Patient does not appear to be at maximum medical improvement. A new MRI should probably be obtained to determine if any localized treatment at L4-5 on the right side could be offered such as an epidural steroid injection. I made no reappointment to see her but I will be happy to assume her care if the involved parties desire and I will be happy to help facilitate obtaining a new MRI scan and therapeutic injection before final statements are made.

(R. pp. 260-261; *App. APA 8, pp. 143-144*)

On February 15, 2018, the Appellant was seen by Dr. Willie S. Edwards of McLeod Spine Center. Dr. Edwards recorded the following under his Spine Notes: “Patient presents with back pain radiating down bilateral lower extremities she states she has been experiencing these symptoms since August 2016 when she had a fall at work. She describes her symptoms as a numbness sensation radiating down both of her lower extremities to her toes with the right side being much worse than her left. She states her symptoms are aggravated with extended walking, standing and better with heat. She did previously undergo physical therapy which offered her no relief. She does continue her work as a food process worker at Ruiz foods. She rates the severity of her condition as an 8 out of 10.” Dr. Black provided the Appellant with a brace to assist with her discomfort and recommended epidural injections to assist with her discomfort in the lower extremities.

Dr. Edward's notes from Appellant's follow-up visit with him on March 15, 2018, states: "Patient presents in follow-up with continued complaints of back pain radiating down both of her extremities. Upon her last visit she was provided with a brace which she does wear she states provides her some relief when walking for any extended period of time. We did also refer her for an injection which unfortunately has not been completed at this time. She states her symptoms are constant and worsening in nature."

Pursuant to referral by Dr. Edwards, the Appellant was administered an epidural steroid injection on April 18, 2018, by Dr. Anthony W. Alexander of McLeod Physician Associates. Dr. Alexander's notes reflect the following: "The patient presents today to undergo her first transforaminal epidural steroid injection. The patient rates her low back pain as a 10/10 and right leg to the toe pain 10/10. ..." (R. pp. 251, 253, 256, 258; *App. APA 7, pp. 134, 136, 139, 141*)

On July 10, 2018, the Appellant was seen by Dr. Leonard Forrest of the Southeastern Spine Institute on referral for an Independent Medical Evaluation. The pertinent part of his notes follow:

Today I had an opportunity evaluate Ms. Mary Hickman. ... She presents at this time with pain that is in her low back and right buttock.

Ms. Hickman relates the onset of her symptoms to a work injury that occurred 08/22/16. She states she was working for Ruiz Foods and walking around a corner when she slipped and fell hard. She relates there was water and oil on the ground. She recalls falling onto her low back and buttock area onto a brick and concrete surface. Ms. Hickman relates that, in addition to falling onto her back, her arm somehow got caught. She relates having an injury to her right shoulder and she also reports that her head hit the ground. She also had pain in the right knee following this incident.

Ms. Hickman relates initially being treated in the safety office at work with ice, and she recalls being sent home from work. Ms. Hickman reports that the following day her symptoms were more prominent. She was directed to go to McLeod occupational health. She subsequently had treatment for the shoulder

and knee as well as her back. Her treatment included primarily physical therapy. She relates having one recent injection procedure done. Prior to that injection, she was having leg pains in addition to the pains in her back and buttock. She reports that the injection procedure resolved the leg pains. However, she remains with prominent pain in her low back and right buttock. Ms. Hickman relates she has been offered surgery by a doctor and she would like to understand her other options.

Currently, Ms. Hickman reports pain in the low back and buttocks. The pain includes aching, burning, and pins and needles. Her level of pain currently varies from 6 to 10 on a scale of 0 to 10. Walking, standing, and lifting make her symptoms feel worse. Sitting with a pillow behind her back, and also lying down with a pillow under her legs are helpful. Medication is also helpful.

Prior to the injury 08/22/16, Ms. Hickman recalls having a couple of episodes of low back pain. By her recollection, the symptoms she had in the past before this accident were primarily in the middle part of the low back and not the right side or right buttock. She recalls having an injection procedure done in approximately 2013. She does not recall any other treatment that was needed. She relates that, prior to the incident 08/22/16, she was asymptomatic and working 8 to 10 hours a day.

...

Ms. Hickman relates that, following her injury in August 2016, she was off work for approximately one month. She then went back to light duty work. She reports that, over the interval following that, she has worked light duty, but needed to be off work at times. She relates that, since this past March, she has been off work entirely.

...

... She has tenderness over the low back and right buttock including over the right S1 joint. Stress of the right S1 joint reproduces some of her symptoms. No tenderness over the midback, upper back, or neck. ...

Ms. Hickman has had 2 lumbar MRI scans done. The first was done in January 2017 and the second one was done in October 2017. I reviewed both studies and also have the official reports from the radiologist for both. The January 2017 study shows facet arthropathy with effusion at L5-S1 on the right. There is facet arthropathy present L-5, right greater than left, also. At that time there was marrow edema in the L4 and L5 pedicles on the right. The study from October 2017 continues to show significant facet arthropathy. The radiologist reports a disc bulge at L3-4 and a listhesis at L4-5 on this October study. I don't see anything significant in this regard or significantly different comparing the two studies.

Impression:

Ms. Hickman has pain in her low back, particularly on the right side, and also her right buttock. She also had pain down the right leg, but she had good improvement with these leg symptoms following a lumbar transforaminal injection that was recently done. To a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Ms. Hickman's low back and buttock pains were caused by the 08/22/16 incident.

With regard to the scan findings, the likelihood is that the facet arthropathy predated the 08/22/16 work incident, but the incident aggravated this condition causing the facet effusion as well as the edema that was seen on the initial MRI in January 2017. Her most recent MRI done in October shows less of the acute findings, but the significant facet arthropathy in the low lumbar spine, particularly on the right, persists. To a reasonable degree of medical certainty, the incident caused an injury to the low lumbar spine including an aggravation of the underlying spondylosis changes.

I also suspect that there may have been an injury to the S1 joint as a result of the 8/22/16 incident.

In my opinion, Ms. Hickman is not at maximal medical improvement.

Recommendation:

Ms. Hickman states she has been discussing surgery with Dr. Edwards. Dr. Edwards' notes, that are available to me, don't discuss surgery, but my opinion is that surgery may prove to be needed, including potentially a two level fusion. However, I don't believe that we know this will be necessary, or will be the best treatment, yet. Ms. Hickman has only had a single injection procedure done to date, and, according to my review, this was a transforaminal injection. This type of injection is best for treating the associated leg symptoms as opposed to treatment for the back and buttock pain. Indeed, Ms. Hickman relates she did have good improvement of her leg symptoms from this injection.

At this time, my specific recommendation for Ms. Hickman is to initiate treatment for the back with an intralaminar epidural injection. If she does not respond adequately to one or two such injections, I would recommend proceeding with treatment of the lumbar facet joints, possibly bilaterally, but particularly the right L45 and L5S1 facets. Also, to my exam, there is a likelihood that the S1 joint was injured, and I s a contributing factor to Mms. Hickman's symptoms as the present time, as well. As such, an S1 injection should be a consideration for treating that component of her symptoms. Of note, spine surgery won't address the S1 joint at all.

Ms. Hickman has been off work recently. She reports her activities have been very limited by her pain. She notes she cannot even go to church now. I

recommend Ms. Hickman continue to be off work. With treatment, ideally she will improve functionally as well as symptomatically.

...  
(R. pp. 262-264; *App. APA 9, pp. 145-147*)

Dr. Forrest also completed Form 14B, Physician's Statement, dated August 5, 2018, in which he diagnosed Appellant's injury as significant aggravation of facet joints based upon facet effusion and edema and disc bulging; injury to the low back at right SI joint, right buttock, leg and back; and determined that she sustained a permanent physical impairment of 14% medical impairment to the low back and SI joint; and that as a result of the injury, the Appellant was disabled from meaningful gainful employment. He recommended additional treatment in the form of injections and possible surgery that would tend to lessen the period of disability or maintain the current level of function.

(R. p. 265; *App. APA, Exhibit A*)

Appellant filed Form 50, Request For Hearing, dated June 20, 2018, claiming injury to her right knee, back, right forearm, elbow and head, seeking additional medical treatment, and temporary total disability benefits. (R. p. 118)

Respondents' Form 51, Employer's Answer To Request for Hearing, was filed July 20, 2018, asserting *inter alia* that the Appellant's current condition is not related to her work accident, denied that she is entitled to additional medical treatment and denied that she is totally disabled as a result of her compensable injury. (R. p. 119)

The case was heard on September 24, 2018, in Florence, South Carolina, before Single Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., who filed his Decision and Order on January 4, 2019, ordering:

That Appellant suffered a compensable injury to only her back for which she received all appropriate medical treatment;

That Appellant reached maximum medical improvement on September 28, 2017;

That Appellant's current condition to her back is unrelated to her compensable accident sustained on August 22, 2016, as Appellant failed to meet her burden of proof; and

That the Appellant is not entitled to any additional medical treatment.  
(R. pp. 8-16)

On January 23, 2019, Appellant filed Form 30, Request for Commission Review. (R. p. 120) The Appellate Panel Review was held in Columbia, South Carolina, on April 29, 2019, before Commissioners Melody James, Aisha Taylor and Susan Barden. The Appellate Panel's Decision and Order filed October 28, 2019, Ordered as follows:

That the Appellant suffered a compensable injury to only her back for which she received all appropriate medical treatment;

That the Appellant reached maximum medical improvement on September 28, 2017;

That Appellant's current condition of her back is unrelated to her compensable accident sustained on August 22, 2016, as Appellant failed to meet her burden of proof; and

That Appellant is not entitled to any additional medical treatment.  
(R. pp. 1-6)

Appellant filed Notice of Appeal to this Court on November 22, 2019.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Standard of Review in this case is set forth by the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. 1-23-310, et seq. (2005). "The Appellate Panel is the ultimate fact finder in Workers' Compensation cases and is not bound by the single commissioner's findings of fact." The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Appellate Panel. Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 80, 636 S.E.2d 876, 882 (Ct. App. 2006). (*Internal cites omitted*) However, its findings must be supported by substantial

evidence. “This Court’s review is, therefore, limited to determining whether the Appellate Panel’s decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or controlled by an error of law.” Mungo v. Rental Uniform Service of Florence, Inc., 383 S.C. 270, 277, 678 S.E.2d 825, 829 (Ct. App. 2009); reh’g denied June 25, 2009, cert. denied April 8, 2010. “Substantial evidence is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached.” Mungo, 383 S.C. at 279, 678 S.E.2d at 830.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellate Panel affirmed in part and reversed in part the Single Commissioner’s Decision and Order. A careful review of the differences between the Findings of Fact in the Decision and Order of the Single Commissioner dated January 4, 2019, and the Decision and Order of the Appellate Panel filed six (6) months later on October 28, 2019 are as follows:

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