THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appeal No. 2019-001944

RECEIVED

APR 30 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Mary Hickman, Employee, .....Appellant,

v.

Ruiz Foods, Employer, and Safety  
National Casualty Corporation c/o  
York Risk Services Group, Carrier, ..... Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

MCANGUS GOUDELICK AND COURIE

Helen F. Hiser  
735 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 200 (29464)  
P.O. Box 650007  
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465  
(843) 576-2900  
helen.hiser@mgclaw.com

J. Brandon Hylton  
501 South Irby Street, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor  
P.O. Box 7489  
Florence, South Carolina 29502

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

### ARGUMENTS

The crux of Claimant's appeal consists of an invitation to this Court to second guess the Commission or, in other words, to engage in "Monday morning quarterbacking." This is evidenced by the fact that, as is explained in more detail below, Claimant does not even attempt to argue that substantial evidence does *not* support the Commission Decision but, instead, suggests there is other evidence in this Record that might support a different outcome, one more in her favor. None of the arguments put forth by Claimant warrant reversing the Commission Decision, which this Court should affirm.

As an initial matter, several of Claimant's argument are cursory and lack any legal support whatsoever. Consequently, they should be deemed abandoned on appeal. *See* First Sav. Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (mere allegations without argument *and* legal support are deemed abandoned); Bryson v. Bryson, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008) ("[a]n issue is deemed

abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority”). This includes Claimant’s Argument Nos. 1 and 4, neither of which cite any statutory or other legal support for her arguments. As such, those arguments should be deemed abandoned and this Court should decline to address them.

In addition, Claimant’s Statement of the Case consists of nearly seven pages of quotes lifted out of strategically selected medical notes in violation of Rule 208, SCACR, which admonishes that “[t]he statement shall not contain contested matters ...” As such, this Court should disregard or strike Claimant’s Statement of the Case with the exception of the passage beginning with the first full paragraph on page 8 and carrying over to the middle of page 9.

**I. The Commission correctly held that Claimant proved a compensable injury to her back only, for which she has received all appropriate medical treatment.**

While Claimant’s first argument should be deemed abandoned for failure to cite any legal authority, First Sav. Bank, 314 S.C. at 363, 444 S.E.2d at 514; Bryson, 378 S.C. at 510, 662 S.E.2d at 615, Respondents address the substance of her argument out of an abundance of caution. In any event, her argument lacks merit and does not provide any basis for reversing the Commission Decision.

Claimant argues that the Commission erred in finding only her back compensable because she presented substantial evidence that she suffered compensable injuries also to her right knee, right forearm, elbow and her head. As is noted above, Claimant’s presentation of this issue either misunderstands or misstates the appropriate standard of review by this Court. The question for a reviewing court is whether the Commission’s findings and conclusions are supported by substantial evidence and *not* whether some

outcome other than the one reached by the Commission is potentially supported by substantial evidence. *See, e.g., Fishburne v. ATI Sys. Int'l*, 384 S.C. 76, 85, 681 S.E.2d 595, 599 (Ct. App. 2009) (the Commission's decision "must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record"). Indeed, "[t]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." *Sharpe*, 336 S.C. at 160, 519 S.E.2d at 105. As noted above, the findings of the Full Commission are presumed correct, and it is not within the appellate court's purview to reverse findings of the Full Commission which are supported by substantial evidence. *Frame*, 357 S.C. at 528, 593 S.E.2d at 495.

Here, substantial evidence supports the Commission's finding that, "any injury to [Claimant's] head, right forearm or shoulder, right knee or right leg resolved." (Commission Decision, p. 3). Following Claimant's fall, Respondents provided medical treatment. (R. pp. 148-223). Beginning in September 2016, Claimant began reporting reduced symptoms in her knee after a course of physical therapy. (R. p. 216), and by January 2017, Claimant's primary problem was her back. In fact, notes from the January 6, 2017 and February 2, 2017 doctor's visits, when she was released to "[a]ll activities on and off the job within limits of comfort," do not mention her knee, right arm or head. (R. pp. 224-233). The notes from Dr. Boyd's March 23, 2017 appointment do not reflect any mention of Claimant's knee, arm or head but, instead, focus only on her back symptoms. (R. pp. 235-237). Although Dr. Storick's May 2, 2017 notes indicate Claimant complained of right arm and right knee pain, in addition to lower back pain, he notes that "[t]he majority of her complaints have improved or resolved with physical therapy and time." (R. pp. 239-242). At a June 20, 2017 follow-up appointment, after physical

therapy directed to Claimant's low back pain, Dr. Storick noted she "overall is substantially better," although she complained of intermittent "popping" in her right knee. (R. pp. 249-256).

At her appointment on September 28, 2017, Dr. Edwards noted that Claimant had injured her right knee in the August 22, 2016 fall, but noted that "[s]ymptoms have improved from that standpoint ..." (R. pp. 260-261).<sup>2</sup> At her follow-up appointment with Dr. Edwards, there is no mention of any injury to her knee, right arm or head. (R. pp. 251-253).

Thus, while there were early complaints of pain, contusions and symptoms related to Claimant's head, right knee and right arm/shoulder, those symptoms resolved and, by January 2017 were no longer a major complaint or being treated. As a result, the Commission's conclusion that, "any injury to [Claimant's] head, right forearm or shoulder, right knee or right leg resolved," (Commission Decision, R. p. 3), is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed by this Court.

**II. The Commission correctly found that Claimant reached MMI as of September 28, 2017.**

The Commission's finding that Claimant reached MMI for her work injury as of September 28, 2017 is supported by substantial evidence and should be upheld on appeal. "Maximum medical improvement is a term used to indicate that a person has reached such a plateau that in the physician's opinion there is no further medical care or treatment which will lessen the degree of impairment." Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214,

---

<sup>2</sup> To the extent Plaintiff suggests that the pain radiating down her right leg is the same as complaints about her knee resulting from the fall, which it appears she is, (*see* App. Br. pp.14-15), Claimant herself distinguished between the pain that radiated down her leg and her knee pain. (*See* R. p. 86, line 18 – p. 87, line 2).

222, 628 S.E.2d 262, 267 (Ct. App. 2006). “MMI is a factual determination left to the discretion of the” Commission. Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 89, 636 S.E.2d 876, 887 (Ct. App. 2006), *citing* Gadson, 368 S.C. at 224, 628 S.E.2d at 268.

Here, the evidence before the Commission showed that, on June 20, 2017, Dr. Storick found that Claimant’s condition had improved substantially after physical therapy to address her low back issues. “Overall the patient has improved with conservative treatments. She will need to continue with her daily home exercises for her back. The patient is capable of returning back to work without restrictions. She will not need long-term medications and should utilize OTC as needed. The patient may need to see an orthopedist regarding the popping and pain in the right knee. Using the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, the patient has a 2% whole person impairment lumbar spine based on the low back pain and lumbar spondylosis.” Claimant was to follow up on an “as needed” basis. (R. pp. 289-292).

Claimant then saw Dr. Edwards for an IME on September 28, 2017. While Dr. Edwards did not concur at that time with Dr. Storick that Claimant had reached MMI, stating that she “does not appear to be at maximum medical improvement,” his opinion was based, in part, on misinformation supplied by Claimant. In particular, she denied “any previous problems related to her spine.” Dr. Edwards suggested a new MRI “should probably be obtained to determine if any localized treatment at L4-5 on the right side could be offered such as an epidural steroid injection.” (R. pp. 260-261). After reviewing Claimant’s prior medical records and the subsequent MRI performed in October 2017, Dr. Edwards testified that he could not state with any degree of medical certainty whether the changes shown on the later MRI were caused by Claimant’s

workplace accident, age, stress, or arthritis, explaining “I’ve seen these problems, that is the spondylolisthesis, emanate from all three of these potential causes, arthritic, traumatic, or stress related.” (R. p. 299, line 19 – p. 301, line 12).

Moreover, Dr. Edwards agreed that Claimant’s continued back pain “is related to [her] chronic history of arthritis, disc bulges, disc herniations that are mentioned in the[] prior medical reports.” (R. p. 308, lines 5-10). Dr. Edwards also stated that, “[b]ased on this available information regarding the long history of preexisting back conditions, it would be challenging to say within any reasonable degree of medical certainty that the [August 22, 2016] accident made this condition worse.” (R. p. 308, lines 11-20). Dr. Edwards testified:

Q: Okay. Is there any way to say with any reasonable degree of medical certainty that the injuries shown at L4-5 on the January 25, 2017 [MRI] were either caused by or aggravated by the work accident at Ruiz Foods?

A: Not but what the patient tells us.

Q: Okay. And we have already determined what the patient has already told you one time was not correct. Is that right?

A: Well, there wasn’t any reference to this previous episodes of back pain that dated quite a long period of time, you are correct.

Q: Not only was there not a mention, there was a specific denial of it?

A: Yes, that’s correct.

Q: Okay. And again, the change from the condition shown on January 25, 2017 and October 30, 2017 showed a progression of that injury even more, correct?

A: It did.

Q: Okay. And January 25th, 2017, if you had just seen that MRI, would you have recommended the surgery at that time based on that condition?

A: No.

Q: Okay. The surgery is based on the recommendations based on the conditions shown on October 30, 2017. Is that correct?

A: That's correct.

Q: And again, I believe you testified that not only the original condition you can't say shown on January 25, 2017 was related to the accident either by causation or accident? You also can't state that the progression of the conditions shown on the later MRI was anyway related to, caused by, or aggravated by the work-related accident at Ruiz Foods. Is that correct?

A: Yes, that is correct.

Q: And is that your opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty?

A: Yes.

(R. p. 313, line 4 – p. 314, line 18). Dr. Edwards was asked whether Claimant's prior medical records showed "other causative events" that could be responsible for her current back pain such that, "[b]ased on those, there's no way to determine to any reasonable degree of medical certainty of causation or aggravation as a result of the Ruiz Foods accident," to which he responded, "That's correct. It would be helpful to have some imaging studies from those areas, from those time frames of the earlier injuries or symptoms." (R. p. 316, lines 12-23).

Thus, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Commission's finding that Claimant had reached MMI as of September 28, 2017 for her lower back problems stemming from her August 22, 2016 fall. The fact that Claimant points to select pieces of evidence that she asserts supports a finding that she had not reached MMI does not mean the Commission Decision is in error in this respect. Where "medical evidence conflicts, the findings of fact of the Commission are conclusive." Brunson, 395 S.C. at 458, 718 S.E.2d at 760 (internal citations omitted); *see also* Nettles, 341 S.C. at 592, 535 S.E.2d at 152 (specifically with regard to whether a claimant has reached MMI, "[w]here there is conflicting medical evidence ... the findings of fact of the commission are conclusive").

The Commission resolved the conflicting evidence on the issue of whether Claimant had reached MMI and, because its finding is supported by substantial evidence, it must be upheld on appeal.

**III. The Commission correctly determined that Claimant failed to meet her burden of proving her current low back condition is causally related to her August 22, 2016 fall.**

As is the case with Claimant's first two arguments, Claimant applies an incorrect standard of review to her third issue. First, it is axiomatic that the claimant in a workers' compensation case bears "the burden of proving the facts essential to his right to compensation, and an award may not be based upon conjecture or speculation." Shealy v. Algernon Blair, Inc., 250 S.C. 106, 110, 156 S.E.2d 646, 648 (1967); *see also* Clade v. Champion Labs, 330 S.C. 8, 11, 496 S.E.2d 856, 858 (1998) (the "claimant has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the workers' compensation law ..."). Second, the question before this Court is not whether there is any evidence that might support her contention that her current condition is related to her August 2016 fall but, rather, whether the Commission's findings and conclusions are supported by substantial evidence. *See, e.g.*, Fishburne, 384 S.C. at 85, 681 S.E.2d at 599 (the Commission's decision "must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record"); Sharpe, 336 S.C. at 160, 519 S.E.2d at 105 ("[t]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence"); Frame, 357 S.C. at 528, 593 S.E.2d at 495 (the findings of the Full Commission are presumed correct, and it is not within the appellate court's purview to reverse findings of the Full Commission which are supported by substantial evidence).

The evidence cited above in Section II in support of the Commission's determination that Claimant has reached MMI also supports its conclusion that she failed to meet her burden of proving her current low back condition is causally connected to her August 22, 2016 workplace accident and is incorporated herein by reference. In brief, Dr. Edwards' following testimony constitutes substantial evidence supporting the Commission's findings and conclusions on this issue:

Q: And again, I believe you testified that not only the original condition you can't say shown on January 25, 2017 was related to the accident either by causation or accident? You also can't state that the progression of the conditions shown on the later MRI was anyway related to, caused by, or aggravated by the work-related accident at Ruiz Foods. Is that correct?

A: Yes, that is correct.

Q: And is that your opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty?

A: Yes.

(R. p. 313, line 4 – p. 314, line 18). Dr. Edwards was asked whether Claimant's prior medical records showed "other causative events" that could be responsible for her current back pain such that, "[b]ased on those, there's no way to determine to any reasonable degree of medical certainty of causation or aggravation as a result of the Ruiz Foods accident," to which he responded, "That's correct." (R. p. 316, lines 12-23).

Because the Commission correctly determined that Claimant failed to meet her burden of proving the current condition of her back is causally related to her August 22, 2016 compensable accident, *see, e.g., Shealy v. Algernon Blair*, 250 S.C. at 110, 156 S.E.2d at 648; *Clade*, 330 S.C. at 11, 496 S.E.2d at 858, and that conclusion is supported by substantial evidence, *see, e.g., Frame*, 357 S.C. at 528, 593 S.E.2d at 495, this Court should affirm the Commission on appeal.

**IV. The Commission correctly determined that Claimant is not entitled to any additional medical treatment.**

Like Claimant's first argument, her fourth argument should be deemed abandoned for failure to cite any legal authority. See First Sav. Bank, 314 S.C. at 363, 444 S.E.2d at 514; Bryson, 378 S.C. at 510, 662 S.E.2d at 615. Respondents address the substance of her argument out of an abundance of caution; however, her argument lacks merit and does not provide any basis for reversing the Commission Decision.

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